**RECEIVED**

**Sep 25 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

IN THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM MARION COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions

Appellate Case No. 2023-000408

The Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South Carolina.....Respondent,

v.

Isaac Kareem Hemingway.....Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

Jillian Lesley  
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.  
S.C. Bar No. 105801  
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113  
Columbia, South Carolina 29204  
(803) 445-1333

Elizabeth Franklin-Best  
Elizabeth Franklin-Best, P.C.  
S.C. Bar No. 72555  
3710 Landmark Drive, Suite 113  
Columbia, South Carolina 29204  
(803) 445-1333

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court erred by denying trial counsel's motion to suppress the search warrant issued to obtain access to Hemingway's cell phone records in violation of South Carolina Code 17-13-140, *State v. Smith*, *State v. Baccus*, and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution?
- II. Whether the trial court erred in denying trial counsel's motion to suppress Hemingway's statement to law enforcement on December 1, 2020, because it was in violation of South Carolina Code §17-13-50, and the arrest warrant used to arrest Hemingway was not supported by probable cause?
- III. Whether the trial court erred in denying trial counsel's motion arguing against the admissibility of the DNA evidence pursuant to *State v. Phillips*?
- IV. Whether the trial court erred in denying trial counsel's pretrial motion to prevent the State from mentioning Hemingway's family court bench warrant as it was not relevant, unfairly prejudicial, and inappropriate character evidence in violation of South Carolina Rules of Evidence 401, 403, and 404(b)?
- V. Whether the trial court erred in overruling trial counsel's objection to improper burden shifting during the State's closing argument?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Isaac Hemingway was indicted by the Marion County grand jury for two counts of murder and one count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. ROA 1016. He was tried before the Honorable William H. Seals, and a jury between February 21- February 23 and February 27-March 2, 2023. He was convicted and sentenced to two life sentences on the murder charges and five years' imprisonment on the weapons charge, to be served concurrently. ROA 1022. Hemingway was represented by Thurmond Brooker. The State was represented by Todd Tucker and Ryan White.

This appeal timely follows.

## **Relevant Facts**

Isaac Hemingway was arrested and charged with the murders of Maisha Burch, the mother of his five children, and Andrew Legette. The State's theory of the case was that Isaac Hemingway and Maisha Burch were engaged in a contentious family court battle over child support and this was motivation for Isaac Hemingway to kill Maisha Burch and Andrew Legette. ROA 242. On Saturday, January 12, 2020, Hemingway picked his children up from Maisha Burch and took them to his home in Horry County for the night. ROA 244. Later that night, Hemingway and his girlfriend went over to a friend's home to play cards. Maisha Burch called Hemingway multiple times that night to check on the kids. Hemingway and his girlfriend returned home and went to sleep. On Sunday evening, Hemingway took the children back to Maisha Burch's home and while he was driving, he called Maisha Burch to let her know that he was on the way. ROA 250. No one answered and it seemed no one was home so he left the children with Maisha Burch's adult daughter and he returned to Horry County where he lived. After not being able to reach her mother, eventually Ms. Burch's home was entered and Ms. Burch and Mr. Legette were found deceased in the home due to gunshot wounds.

The investigation began in January 2020 and Hemingway was not arrested until he was picked up on a family court bench warrant for child support in December of 2020, almost one year later. After being arrested on the family court bench warrant, he was subjected to a custodial interview regarding the murders of Burch and Legette. Immediately after the interview was over, he was served with the warrants in this case for the murders of Maisha Burch and Andrew Legette. The State's evidence against Hemingway was the alleged motive of child support, cell phone records showing he and Maisha Burch called each other multiple times that night, cell location

data, DNA on the backdoor of Maisha Burch's home, in her hallway, and DNA found under Maisha Burch's fingernails. No weapon was ever located. Hemingway's DNA was tested but the investigators never tested any of Hemingway's children's DNA, who all lived in the home with Maisha Burch and share DNA with Hemingway.

Prior to the start of trial, trial counsel for Hemingway made several motions. One motion was to suppress the search warrant used to obtain Hemingway's phone records pursuant to South Carolina Code 17-13-140, as well as South Carolina case law *State v. Baccus* and *State v. Smith*. ROA 193-210. Trial counsel further argued the search warrant should be suppressed because it was not executed within 10 days pursuant to the statute 17-13-140. ROA 210. Further, trial counsel argued that under federal law, magistrates are not able to issue subpoenas outside of its boundaries. ROA 213. The trial court denied this motion to suppress and allowed the State to enter the phone records in evidence during the trial. The court ruled the affidavit submitted by law enforcement to obtain the search warrant contained "enough [] to search his phone to see if what he's saying is it true or not." ROA 209. The court further denied the motion ruling that Justice Few addressed the magistrate issue so "I'm not even going to go there," and the 10-day window is a ministerial requirement to prevent someone from sitting on a search warrant for extended periods of time. ROA 215. Trial counsel preserved his objection for appeal during the trial as well, citing his previous arguments as the basis for his objection. ROA 379-380.

Also prior to trial, trial counsel moved to suppress the statement given by Hemingway after his arrest on a family court bench warrant. Trial counsel argued the arrest warrant was not supported by probable cause because the State could not produce the bench warrant showing the legal authority that law enforcement had for that arrest. Further, the arrest warrant was not

supported by probable cause because the arrest warrant for the murders of Burch and Legette lacked the sufficient factual information to rise to the level of probable cause. Therefore, the arrest of Hemingway was unlawful and everything which resulted from the arrest was unlawful as fruit of the poisonous tree, including Hemingway's statement made to law enforcement. ROA 217-223. The Court denied the motion, ruling that Hemingway was properly Mirandized and freely and voluntarily provided his statement. ROA 224.

Prior to trial, trial counsel objected to the admission of the DNA evidence pursuant to *State v. Phillips*, 430 S.C. 319, 844 S.E.2d 651 (2020). ROA 547. The evidence the State was allowed to admit were partial profiles of touch DNA from the back door of Burch's home which was a mixture of at least three individuals, a swab from the wall of the hallway of the home, which was a mixture of at least two individuals, and fingernail scrapings under Burch's fingernails. ROA 514-515, 522, 531. Trial counsel argued the admission of this DNA evidence would be in violation of *State v. Phillips* because the State sought to introduce DNA from the back door of the home, the hallway, and under the fingernails of Burch. ROA 547-549. The samples collected were not of blood or semen which is stronger evidence of DNA but rather of skin cells which can only produce a partial profile and can only be used to discuss the DNA in terms of percentages of possibilities that it would include or exclude a particular suspect. ROA 548. The fact which further exacerbated the issue of admitting this DNA evidence, as argued by trial counsel, is that Hemingway and Burch's five children also lived in the home with Burch, shared DNA with their father, and their DNA samples were not taken and tested as well. ROA 539-540, 548-549. There also would have been many reasons why the children's DNA would have been on the back door of their home and under their mother's fingernails.

The State's witness testified when she completed these samples that she had no idea there were children living in the home. ROA 539-540. She also testified that children share fifty percent of their DNA from their mother and fifty percent from their father. Trial counsel argued that under *State v. Phillips*, the admission of this evidence was unlawful. The court denied the defense's objection to the admission of this evidence reasoning that under the Rule 702 analysis the witness satisfied those requirements. The Court went on to rule that *State v. Phillips* did not preclude the introduction of the evidence in this case because in *State v. Phillips* the state failed to present the testimony of an expert witness at the hearing, presented an incomplete factual and scientific basis for the admission of the expert's opinion, and did not explain to the jury the complicated DNA concepts involved. The Court ruled those things did not exist in this case and therefore the testimony was admissible and the testimony was not more prejudicial than probative under Rule 403. ROA 550-552.

Prior to trial, trial counsel moved that evidence of the Petitioner's family court bench warrant not be admitted in evidence. The trial court denied that motion reasoning that the evidence was relevant to prove motive, its probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury under Rule 403, and it fit within the motive exception to Rule 404(b). ROA 552-553. Trial counsel argued that this bench warrant was served eleven months after the murder of Burch and Legette and because of that, could not be used as evidence to commit murder when the warrant was not served until eleven months after the murders. ROA 555. Furthermore, the bench warrant had been extinguished by the time he was arrested and the State could not prove the bench warrant was even active at the time he was arrested. ROA 555.

Finally, trial counsel objected to improper burden shifting during closing arguments.

During the State's closing argument, the Solicitor argued:

He also touched on, ladies and gentlemen, the cell phone evidence and the time line. He's right I don't know why he keeps bringing it up. I don't dispute everything – we don't dispute everything that happened up to midnight. What they can't account for – and he glossed right over it. It's what happened from midnight to 7a.m.

ROA 972.

Trial counsel argued this statement of what the defense could not account for was improper burden shifting because the defendant in a criminal trial is not required to account for anything or prove anything. *Id.* The trial court overruled the objection stating the Solicitor was “just replying to what you brought up” referring to trial counsel. *Id.* The trial court then stated “I'm going to charge them.”

## ARGUMENTS

- I. **The trial court erred by denying trial counsel’s motion to suppress the search warrant issued to obtain access to Hemingway’s cell phone records in violation of South Carolina Code 17-13-140, *State v. Smith*, *State v. Baccus*, and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution.**

South Carolina Code §17-13-140 states:

Any magistrate or recorder or city judge having the powers of magistrates, or any judge of any court of record of the State having jurisdiction over the area where the property sought is located, may issue a search warrant to search for and seize (1) stolen or embezzled property; (2) property, the possession of which is unlawful; **(3) property which is being used or has been used in the commission of a criminal offense or is possessed with the intent to be used as the means for committing a criminal offense or is concealed to prevent a criminal offense from being discovered;** (4) **property constituting evidence of crime or tending to show that a particular person committed a criminal offense;** (5) any narcotic drugs, barbiturates, amphetamines or other drugs restricted to sale, possession, or use on prescription only, which are manufactured, possessed, controlled, sold, prescribed, administered, dispensed or compounded in violation of any of the laws of this State or of the United States. Narcotics, barbiturates or other drugs seized hereunder shall be disposed of as provided by § 44-53-520.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (emphasis added).

In *State v. Baccus*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina was presented with a search warrant issue where the defense challenged the affidavit which was submitted in order to issue the search warrant as lacking the requisite probable cause to issue the search warrant under section (3) of S. C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 as cited above. The Court reasoned:

Under both the United States and South Carolina constitutions, search warrants may not be issued except “upon probable cause, supported by Oath or affirmation.” U.S. Const. amend. IV; S.C. Const. art. I, § 10. Following these constitutional requirements, § 17-13-140 requires a sworn affidavit for a search warrant to be issued. A court order issued pursuant to § 17-13-140, which stands in place of a search warrant, should only be issued upon a finding of probable cause, which is supported by oath or affirmation.

*State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 54-55, 625 S.E.2d 216, 223 (2006).

Therefore, in South Carolina, search warrants may be issued “only upon affidavit sworn to before the magistrate ... establishing the grounds for the warrant.” S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140 (2003); *see also State v. McKnight*, 291 S.C. 110, 352 S.E.2d 471 (1987). “The affidavit must set forth particular facts and circumstances underlying the existence of probable cause to allow the magistrate to make an independent evaluation of the matter.” *Franks v. Delaware*, 438 U.S. 154, 98 S. Ct. 2674, 57 L.Ed.2d 667 (1978). Failure to do so is not only a violation of South Carolina law, it is also a violation of the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution as the Supreme Court ruled in *Baccus*.

The Court in *Baccus* ruled the affidavit lacked specificity and contained conclusory statements which were not sufficient to establish probable cause and the trial court erred in admitting the evidence seized pursuant to the search warrant. *Baccus*, 367 S.C. at 52.

In *State v. Smith*, 301 S.C. 371, 392 S.E.2d 182 (1990), Smith moved to suppress a knife, allegedly used in a robbery, which was seized from his motel room pursuant to a search warrant. In determining whether the issuing magistrate had a substantial basis to conclude probable cause existed, this Court considered the following affidavit accompanying a search warrant:

That on May 12th at approximately 11:45 p.m. Reginald Jerome Smith went into the Master Inn located at 1468 Savannah Hwy., Charleston, S.C. and he then robbed the manager at knife point. Smith has been staying at the Host of America Room 216 since Jan. 1, 1988 and there is every reason to believe the weapon and clothes used in the robbery will be located in the room. This information was confirmed in person by Sgt. Sherman on 05/13/88.

*Id.* at 372, 392 S.E.2d at 183.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina held that the affidavit was defective because it “set[ ] forth no facts as to why police believed Smith robbed the Master Host Inn.” *Id.* at 373, 392 S.E.2d

at 183. The Court ruled that, “[m]ere conclusory statements which give the magistrate no basis to make a judgment regarding probable cause are insufficient.” *Id.* See also *State v. Weston*, 329 S.C. 287, 494 S.E.2d 801 (1997) (court ruled the affidavit did not provide a substantial basis for probable cause because it failed to set forth any facts as to why police believed Weston committed the crime and the first three sentences of the affidavit contained conclusory statements).

In Hemingway’s case, the affidavit was presented to the magistrate judge to obtain a search warrant for Hemingway’s cell phone records from Verizon Wireless. ROA 1080. The affidavit made similar conclusory statements as the insufficient affidavits in *Baccus* and *Smith*. Special Agent Barkdoll, who presented the affidavit, failed to set forth in the affidavit any facts as to why law enforcement believed Hemingway committed the crime, which was the same error as the affidavits in *Baccus* and *Smith*. Attached to the affidavit and search warrant as Exhibit B was a form Agent Barkdoll sent indicating an “urgent request for examination.” ROA 1086. The reason which Agent Barkdoll wrote for his urgent request for an examination of these phone records stated, “[t]his is a double murder with zero leads. The phones possibly have information that could lead to a suspect.” ROA 1086. This form further indicated that law enforcement had no suspects and they could not articulate why Hemingway committed the crime in the affidavit because he was not even a suspect- the case had zero leads at the time and law enforcement was hoping the cellphone records would lead to a suspect. This is in clear violation of *Smith*, *Baccus*, S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-140, and the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The trial court erred in ruling otherwise.

Respectfully, Hemingway asks this Court to grant him a new trial.

**II. The trial court erred in denying trial counsel's motion to suppress Hemingway's statement to law enforcement on December 1, 2020 because it was in violation of South Carolina Code §17-13-50 and the arrest warrant used to arrest Hemingway was not supported by probable cause.**

Hemingway was arrested on December 1, 2020 and law enforcement told him that he was being arrested on a family court bench warrant for child support. ROA 162-164. Once arrested, he was interviewed at the Horry County Police Department and once the interview was over, he was served with the murder warrants in this case. ROA 164, 168. This family court bench warrant was actually terminated by a family court order on February 27, 2020. ROA 1087. There was no active bench warrant to arrest Hemingway and his arrest and interview were made under false pretenses.

South Carolina Code Section §17-13-50 states:

(A) A person arrested by virtue of process or taken into custody by an officer in this State has a right to know from the officer who arrests or claims to detain him the true ground on which the arrest is made. It is unlawful for an officer to:

- (1) refuse to answer a question relative to the reason for the arrest;
- (2) answer the question untruly;
- (3) assign to the person arrested an untrue reason for the arrest; or
- (4) neglect on request to exhibit to the person arrested or any other person acting in his behalf the precept by virtue of which the arrest is made.

(B) An officer who violates the provisions of this section is guilty of a felony and, upon conviction, must be fined in the discretion of the court or imprisoned not more than ten years, or both.

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-13-50.

Here, there was no active family court bench warrant and law enforcement lied to Hemingway and told him that was the reason for his arrest. After his arrest, he was interviewed at the Horry County Police Department. ROA 164. Only after the interview ended he was he served with the murder warrants in this case. ROA 168. Law enforcement violated this South Carolina statute when they arrested Hemingway under false pretenses.

South Carolina jurisprudence is clear that when an unlawful arrest is made, everything that flows from it must be suppressed as fruit of the poisonous tree. *See State v. Boswell* (finding law enforcement did not have legal authority to arrest Boswell and the “trial judge erred in refusing to suppress Boswell's confessions as the product of the unlawful arrest”) *State v. Boswell*, 391 S.C. 592, 606, 707 S.E.2d 265, 272 (2011). In a case where the evidence is a statement, however, the test is still voluntariness of the statement. “We conclude and hold that every statement or confession made by a person in custody as the result of an illegal arrest, is not involuntary and inadmissible, but the facts and circumstances surrounding such arrest and the in-custody statement should be considered in determining whether the statement is voluntary and admissible” *State v. Funchess*, 255 S.C. 385, 391, 179 S.E.2d 25, 28 (1971) (relying on *Prescoe v. State*, 231 Md. 486, 191 A.2d 226, *People v. Freeland*, 218 Cal.App.2d 199, 32 Cal.Rptr. 132, *Burke v. United States*, 1 Cir., 328 F.2d 399, *United States v. Close*, 4 Cir., 349 F.2d 841, and *State v. Moore*, 275 N.C. 141, 166 S.E.2d 53).

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