**RECEIVED**

**Nov 26 2024**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

Appeal from Marion County  
The Honorable William H. Seals, Circuit Court Judge

---

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

ISAAC KAREEM HEMINGWAY,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2023-000408

---

**AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 11973

Office of the Attorney General  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, South Carolina 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. EDGAR L. CLEMENTS, III

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

Third, as Judge Seals found in his analysis of this issue, Rule 404(b) specifically provides evidence of prior bad acts [if this is even a prior bad act], is admissible to prove "motive." Rule 404(b), SCRE. The evidence was not offered to show propensity to commit a crime, but to show

---

<sup>30</sup> See Marguita Middleton-DSS-State v. Isaac Hemingway, Case # 2006-DR-33-00059, Case II 0569936, JR No. 32277; Bench Warrant 00005431; Order to Dismiss, December 2, 2020, the Honorable Christy M. Gray.

motive for the murder; i.e. Hemingway was already under financial stress and threatened with incarceration for failure to pay child support for 1 child before Burch filed a child support action against Hemingway alleging failure to pay child support for 5 more children. And, on the eve of being ordered to pay child support for 5 more children, Hemingway murdered Burch and Legette, and never had to pay any child support for any of his 5 children. There was no abuse of discretion. See Sweat, 362 S.C. 117, 606 S.E.2d 508 (prior CDV arrest 2 months earlier was admissible evidence of motive and *res gestae* of the crime where it was motivation for the attack on the victim 2 months later and provided the jury with the context of the crime).

*Harmless error*

Regardless, the mention of a bench warrant for failure to pay child support could not have been prejudicial in this case. In Hemingway's 2<sup>nd</sup> statement, police mention they picked up Hemingway on a bench warrant for failure to pay child support from Marion County, not for some criminal offense. Hemingway explains there should not be any bench warrant for failure to pay child support as his child support obligation for his oldest son had ended several months earlier when the child became emancipated, or the Court ended the child support obligation. (State's Ex. 62). The interrogating officers state on the video they were not aware of these facts; the bench warrant was simply in the computer system and was still active, so officers had to arrest him. (State's Ex. 62). The Family Court Clerk testified the bench warrant for failure to pay child support was dismissed the following day by Order of the Court, and she was not aware if Hemingway actually owed any child support or not. (R. 816-17). The bench warrant was not admitted in evidence. The jury could have believed the bench warrant was mistakenly issued or should have been dismissed before December 2, 2020. There could be no unfair prejudice from mention of the same. The State did not argue this bench warrant as propensity evidence. Hemingway admits

(IBOA, pp. 23-26), the bench warrant was cumulative to other testimony and the family court records admitted in evidence of the motive for the crimes, victim Maisha seeking to put Hemingway under a child support obligation for 5 more children. (R. 261-66; 816-17; R. 2/24/23, 36-40; State's Ex. 63; R. 2/24/23, 59-69). State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445, 488 (2003)(erroneous admission of prior bad act evidence is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt if its' impact is minimal given the entire record.); State v. Pagan, 369 S.C. 201, 631 S.E.2d 262 (2006)(prior bad act is harmless where its' admission was minimal, it is dissimilar to the crime for which defendant is on trial, and other bad acts of were admitted without objection); State v. Broaddus, 331 S.C. 534, 605 S.E.2d 549 (Ct. App. 2004)(any error in admission of prior bad act testimony is harmless where it is cumulative to other objected to testimony properly admitted);

#### ARGUMENT V.

##### **The trial court did not err in denying the request for a curative instruction in response to an alleged improper burden shifting argument**

During defense counsel's closing argument, he specifically argued the cell phone records and CSLI corroborated Hemingway's timeline and 2 statements regarding his whereabouts surrounding the time of the murders. (R. 931-945). In Reply, the Solicitor argued that what the *phone records*, *CSLI*, and *timeline* or defense counsel could not explain was what was the most important, what occurred during the time when the murders occurred. (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5).<sup>31</sup>

Here is exactly what the Solicitor stated in Reply:

He also touched on, ladies and gentlemen, *the cell phone evidence and the timeline*. He's right, I don't know why he keeps bringing it up. I don't dispute everything - - we don't dispute everything up to midnight. What *they* can't account for - - and he glossed right over it. Its what happened from midnight until 7:00 a.m.

---

<sup>31</sup> *Cell phone records* (State's Ex. 68) and a *cell phone report* (Def. Ex. 4) were introduced at trial. Defense counsel argued from a *timeline* he put together as a demonstrative exhibit.

MR. BOOKER: You Honor, may we approach? May we approach? (Whereupon a bench conference was held in the presence of the jury but out of the hearing of the jury on the record).

MR. BOOKER: Your Honor, I think he just made a critical error that you may have to instruct the jury. He can't say what they can't account for. Burden of proof is not on us. You can't ---

MR. WHITE: That is what you said in your closing.

THE COURT: He's just replying to what you brought up.

MR. WHITE: Yeah, that's all it was.

MR. BOOKER: I'm bringing up the evidence, but he can't say that we can't account for it where he's basically saying - - -

MR. WHITE: You glossed over it.

MR. BOOKER: We have something to prove. We don't have to account for anything.

THE COURT: I'm going to charge them.

(WHEREUPON, a bench conference was held in the presence of the jury, but out of the hearing of the jury on the record has ended).

MR. WHITE: And again, you didn't hear much about from 12:00 midnight to seven a.m. that's the time that I'm talking about. And he wants to say that I didn't want to move this [Def. Ex. 4, the cell-phone report] in, but that was strategic because I knew he would. And he fumbled backwards and emphasized my point and that is exactly what he did. He had no when he ask that expert he said on this slide you don't see the 4:49 call why is that. And you can tell it caught him off guard because that is a different tower he's moving.

Ladies and gentlemen, despite what he says at 4:49 a.m. he is not in his house. I can't emphasize that enough. Twelve o'clock he says he is in his house and talks to Maisha [Burch]. The last person to talk to her alive. Savion says after midnight sees a car come up at 4:49. He star 67 the call both times and he is not in his house where he says that he is. That's the issue that I'm bringing up.

(R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5)(emphasis added). The Solicitor's argument was fully supported by the record and in direct response to counsel's closing argument regarding what the phone records, CSLI, and timeline showed. (R. 640-701; St.'s Ex. 68; Def. Ex. 4). The Solicitor immediately goes

on to other things defense counsel said during the trial and closing argument and how those things are not correct or even evidence, the testimony is evidence. (R. 978, ln. 6). During jury instruction, Judge Seals instructed the jury numerous times the burden of proof is on the State to prove the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt and the defendant does not have to prove anything. (R. 985-88; 991). Hemingway argues Judge Seals erred in not striking the argument and not giving a curative instruction. (BOA). Hemingway is wrong. (R. 931-45; 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5).

### ***Lack of Preservation***

While counsel interrupted the Solicitor's Reply argument, and asked for a side-bar conference, he did not object to the argument or move to strike, he simply asked for a curative instruction. (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5). Since there was no objection, or motion to strike, this issue is not preserved for appeal. State v. Navy, 370 S.C. 398, 635 S.E.2d 549 (Ct. App. 2006)(closing argument challenge was not preserved for appeal because there was no contemporaneous objection); State v. Pierce, 263 S.C. 23, 207 S.E.2d 414 (1974)(counsel must object to closing argument); State v. Harry, 321 S.C. 273, 468 S.E.2d 76 (Ct. App. 1996)(if the trial judge denies the request for a curative instruction, counsel must object to preserve the issue).

### ***Standard of Review/the Law***

The trial judge is vested with broad discretion regarding the manner of closing argument and ordinarily his rulings on such matters will not be disturbed. State v. Bell, 302 S.C. 18, 393 S.E.2d 364 (1990); State v. Green, 48 SC. 136, 26 S.E. 234 (1897); State v. Jernigan, 156 S.C. 509, 153 S.E. 480 (1930). A prosecutor may argue the evidence in the record and the reasonable inferences from that record. State v. Caldwell, 300 S.C. 494, 388 S.E.2d 816 (1990); State v. Raffaldt, 318 S.C. 110, 456 S.E.2d 390 (1995); State v. Allen, 266 S.C. 468, 224 S.E.2d 881 (1976). A prosecutor should argue his case vigorously and give his version of the testimony and what

weight and credibility should be given to the evidence. Caldwell, 300, S.C. 494, 388 S.E.2d 816; Allen, 266 S.C. 468, 224 S.E.2d 881. A prosecutor may characterize or argue the credibility of witnesses presented by either side. Raffaldt, 318 S.C. 110, 456 S.E.2d 390 (1995); Caldwell, *supra*. A prosecutor may argue to a jury to return a verdict he conceives it is their duty to return based upon the evidence presented in the trial. Allen. A party who injects an argument into the case, is in no position to complain about the argument in reply. State v. Gilstrap, 205 S.C. 412, 32 S.E.2d 163, (1944); Jernigan, 156 S.C. 509, 153 S.E. 480. In response to opposing counsel's argument, an attorney may fairly point out evidence that a jury should or should not consider. State v. Durden, 264 S.C. 86, 212 S.E.2d 587 (1975).

#### *Analysis*

Even if preserved, there is no merit to this issue because in a Reply argument the Solicitor is allowed to respond to counsel's argument and matters brought up in the same. *See* State v. Hill, 382 S.C. 360, 675 S.E.2d 764 (Ct. App. 2009)(Solicitor's statements were made in Reply to defendant's strategy to place direct or indirect responsibility for the murders on a 3rd party and were not intended to comment on defendant's failure to call any witnesses in his defense). That is the very purpose of Reply argument. State v. Beaty, 423 S.C. 26, 32, 813 S.E.2<sup>nd</sup> 502 (2018)(Party must limit its Reply to those matters raised by the other party in its closing argument); *See* State v. Shands, 424 S.C. 106, 817 S.E.2d 524 (Ct. App. 2018). That is why the final closing argument of the State is given the name "Reply." Beaty, 423 S.C. at 46, 813 S.E.2d at 513. Defense counsel argued extensively in his closing argument that cell phone records and CSLI supported Hemingway's purported alibi he related to police in his 2 recorded statements **and** as testified to by his girlfriend. (R. 931-45). The Solicitor was specifically responding to that argument of counsel when he made his argument. (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5). In fact, that is how this portion of

the Reply began, referring to what opposing counsel said or brought up. (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5). Judge Seals, who saw and heard the argument, properly denied the request for a curative instruction [and any implied objection contained in this request] finding the Solicitor's comments were in direct response to what Hemingway's counsel brought up in his closing argument not an attempt to shift the burden of proof to the defendant. (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5).

Based on the language used itself and its context (R. 976- 978), the Solicitor was referring to the *cell phone records*, *CSLI*, and Hemingway's *timeline* in referring to "they". The Solicitor was specifically arguing to the jury that this evidence, the *timeline*, *CSLI*, and *phone records* [they], could not show what occurred during the relevant time, the time the murders occurred. (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5). Even if the Solicitor was not referring to the specific evidence he was talking about, at most, he was referring to defense counsel, in Reply. (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5).

The record fully supports Judge Seals' denial of the request to give a curative instruction and any implied objection. (R. 931-45; 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5). The Solicitor's Reply argument directly responded to counsel's argument that the *phone records* and *CSLI* supported the purported *timeline* and alibi, by informing the jury this evidence did not support counsel's argument or the purported alibi. (R. 931-45; R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5). The Solicitor's argument in this regard was fully supported by the record. (R. 640-701; State's Ex. 68; Def. Ex. 4). In fact, after Judge Seals ruled, the Solicitor explained in detail to the jury exactly what he was arguing to the jury, that *the evidence in question* did not support *defense counsel's* closing argument about the *timeline* and *phone records*. (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5). The phone records and *CSLI* did not show Hemingway was in bed with his girlfriend at the time of the murders. They showed he was not in his home as

Hemingway claimed to police and as his girlfriend claimed at trial. (R. 640-701; State's Ex. 68; Def. Ex. 4).<sup>32</sup> This was proper Reply and was in direct response to counsel's closing argument.

This was also an invited response. (R. 931-45; 976-978). United States v. Robinson, 485 U.S. 25, 32 (1988). Under our current system of closing argument where the State opens, the defense argues, and the State replies, counsel cannot raise and argue something in closing argument and not expect the Solicitor to give a fair response in the Reply, as long as that response is supported by the evidence or the inferences therefrom. Robinson, 485 U.S. at 32; Young, 470 U.S. 1; Vaughn, 362 S.C. 163, 607 S.E.2d 72; Caldwell, *supra*. Hemingway's argument would eliminate the very purpose of Reply argument. Counsel "opened the door" to the State's argument with his closing. *See* State v. Robinson, 305 S.C. 469, 409 S.E.2d 404 (1991).<sup>33</sup> "Once the defendant opens the door, the Solicitor's invited response is appropriate, so long as it ... does not unfairly prejudice the defendant;" the Solicitor's response must be proportional. Ellenburg v. State, 366 S.C. 66, 69, 635 S.E.2d 224, 226 (2006). *See* Bowman v. State, 422 S.C. 19, 42, 809 S.E.2d 232, 244 (2018)(the State responded proportionally when defendant "opened the door."). Hemingway "opened the door" when he argued the phone records and CSLI corroborated his alibi when they did not. *See* Robinson, *supra*; Culbreath, *supra*. The Solicitor's response was proportional to the closing argument of defense counsel. There was no abuse of discretion.

---

<sup>32</sup> The DNA evidence also showed both Hemingway, in his statements to police, and his girlfriend, in her testimony, were deceiving the jury. In this case, Hemingway also introduced evidence. His girlfriend and a friend testified. The Solicitor can argue the lack of credibility of a defense' witness based on the evidence in the record, including the phone records and CSLI. Caldwell; Raffaldt. This was proper Reply to counsel's argument and arguing the lack of credibility of Hemingway's claims to police and those of his girlfriend at trial based on evidence introduced by the State, the phone records and CSLI. (R. 640-701; State's Ex. 68; Defense Ex. 4).

<sup>33</sup> *See also* Vaughn, 362 S.C. 163, 607 S.E.2d 72; State v. Culbreath, 377 S.C. 326, 659 S.E.2d 268 (Ct. App. 2008); State v. Young, 378 S.C. 101, 661 S.E.2d 387 (2008); State v. Stroman, 281 S.C. 508, 316 S.E.2d 395 (1984).

*Harmless Error*

Further, any error would be harmless. Not only did the Solicitor go on to explain to the jury he was specifically responding to what counsel raised in his argument and the phone records and CSLI did not support the purported alibi given to police in 2 recorded statements as counsel contended (R. 976, ln. 5 - 978, ln. 5), but also Judge Seals instructed the jury repeatedly, as he said he would, Hemingway was presumed innocent, and the burden of proof was on the State and Hemingway had no burden to prove anything. (R. 984-91). Any error on this record would be harmless. *See State v. Weaver*, 361 S.C. 73, 602 S.E.2d 786 (Ct. App. 2004)(any error was not prejudicial enough to mandate reversal where defendant's counsel first asked the jury to contemplate why defendant would have stayed at the crime scene and stood over the victim and the trial court gave a curative instruction); *See generally State v. Goodwin*, 384 S.C. 588, 683 S.E.2d 500 (Ct. App. 2009)(prosecutor's comments did not so infect the trial as to result in a denial of due process, moreover, any alleged error was cured by the court's extensive charge to the jury).

**CONCLUSION**

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